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Preface

Probably few asplrants to the Master's Degree have prepared
their theses under as favorable and fortunate circumstances as
has the writer. First of all, the preparation of the subject has
been a labor of love, for the reason that the writer's mother,
Msary Russell Yeamans, was born in 0ld St. Mary'!s, and the Russell
family forma no insignificant part of any history of that place,
Secondly, 1t has been & source of proud pleasure that a major
part of the history of the town has bsen preserved by members of
the writert's own family, principelly her uncle, the late Judge
Lyman Brightman Russell, of Comanche, Texas, and her aunt, Mrs.
Sallie J. (Russell) Burmeister, of Pleasanton, Texss, now eighty
years old, but of remarkeble mental vitality., It is not often
that e historlan has at his or her hand & living primary source
of materiel, but dear Aunt Sallie has been Just that, and has
been with the writer throughout the finel formation of the thesis.

It 18 & pleasurable and profitable coincidence that Judge
Lyman B. Russell gave Colonel Hobart Huson a mass of original
document 3, including hundreds of pages of hig own recollections,
all of which have been preserved by Colonel Huson at "Dawgwood",
The writer has been extended the privilege, not only of using
these documents, but of unrestricted acceass to the treasure trove
of manuscript material and fine research library at "Dawgwood",
for all of which the writer expresses her thanks.

San Antonio, Texes Camille Yeamans Neighbors
August, 1942
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THE OLD TOWN OF SAINT MARY 'S ON COPANQO BAY AND SOME
INTERESTING PLOPLE WHO ONCE LIVED THERE

CHAPTER I
EARLY LAND GRANTS

Introduction

The town of St, Mary's, - once the metropolls and one
time tituler county seat of Refugio County ~ is now but a mem-
ory., Of the many families which populated it in the heyday
of its glory, only one remains, =~ the Brightmans, who live in
what was once the proud Neel Hotel, and is now one of the last
remaining buildings of the old towm., The o0ld town was situa-
ted on the northwestern shore of Copano Bay, which was from
colonlal times considered to be part of Aransas Bay, hence the
name St, Mary's of Aransas,

The site of the town is a high bluff, equal in elevatlon
to that at El Copano some eight miles northeasterly up the bay

share, Across the bey, some nine miles away, can be discerned

Live 02k Point, where Colonel James Power lived and dled., Sight-

ing scross Live QOsk peninsula the Moorish turrets of the court

house at Rockport can be discerned on a clear day, Southeast

down the bay, two miles from the site of St. Mary's, 1s the mod-

ern village of Bayside, clustered about the lmposing bullding
which in the 1870's was the hospitable home of Major John How=

land Wood,



The site of St. Maryts is in the heart of the Karankawa
and Copano Indian country. Wedded to the sea as were these
sborigines, the great shell reefs at Powers Point and in the
Aransas river behind Black Point were among thelr favorite ren-
dezvous, and the spade of the archaeologlst constantly upturns
relics and remains of these vanished races, The last survivor
of the fierce Karankawa tribe to remain in Texas lived and dled
at old St. Mary's.l

1l Power, Philip, Memolrs iiSS
Huson, Hobart, St., Mary's of Aransas MS3
Huson, Hobart, El1 Copano, Refugio Timely Remearks, Refuglo
Timely Remarks, Refugio, Texas, 1935, pp. 3=E.

These Indians were quite in evidence during the early years
of the Texan Republic, and during the period the first surveys
of the St. Mary's townsite were being made, as appears from ac~-
counts of citizens then residing on Live Oak peninsular, just
across the bay. Intrigulng as the subject of these Indians may
be, fidelity to the primary subject compels the foregoling of any
detalled trestment thereof in this thesis, Fortunately, there
has recently appeared & splendid and authoritative history deal-
ing largely with these tribes written by the Very Reverend Father
Williem H. Oberste.®

2 Oberste, William H., History of the Mission of Refugilo,
Refuglio Timely Remarks, Refugio, Texas, 1942
willis Roberts to M. B., Lamar, March 3, 1838, Lamar Papers,
Vol., 2, p. 41, J. C, Baldwin & Sons, Austin, Texas, 1922




The Town of St. Mary's was located on one of the twenty-
two leagues of land privately purchased (eleven leagues each)
by Colonel James Power and his partner, Dr., James Hewetson,
from the State of Coshulla and Texas in 1829, the grants being
actually issued in 1834,°

3 Grants from Coahuills and Texas to Power and Hewetson,
Archives, General Land 0ffice, Austin, Texeas.

As is well kmown, Power and Hewetson were granted a con-
cession by the Mexican Govermment, (April 21, 183 ) to colonize
the ten littoral leagues of Texas between the Guadalupe and

Nueces rivers.4

4 Bmpresario Contract between Coahuila and Texas and Power
Hewetson, dated June 11, 1826, and April 21, 1830, in Archives
of General Land Office, and also recorded in Volume 45, page 637,
Refugio County, Texas.

The colonigzation contract of these empresarlos had received
the consent of the Supreme Federal Executive of Mexico, as was
required in cases of littoral lands, and was in all respects lege
al and effective, The twenty-two leagues privately purchased by
the empresarios being within the bounds of thelr colonisl conces=-
sion, Power and Hewetson did not deem it necessary to obtailn spe~
cial Federal Executlve consent to their purchase. This was held
by the Supreme Court of Texas to be an error, and a most ruinous
one so far as Colonel Power was concerned, as we shall presently

S6€.
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Power and Hewetson had Judiciously located their private-‘
1y purchaged lands in advance of issuance of grants to their
colonists, and the locatians embraced the shorelines of Aransas
and Copano bays, as well &s the whole of the islands of St. Jo-
seph and Mstagorda, so that they included every site aveilable
for ports in Vestern Mexican Texams, Within these lesagues were
the sites of Ste 4dmryts, Llack Poilnt, El Copanc, Lamsr, Aransas
City, Port Preston, hLockport, Port Aranses and Ssluria,.

However, Power, who had acquired the interest of Hewotson,
wag fated never to reap the fruits of his foresight and oppore=
tunity. lie Nemesls, and that of the Irish colonists in gener-
al, was Joseph F. Smith, a lawyer, soldier, promoter and dream-
er, a strange man whose name is stlll detested by the descend-
ants of the Irish colonists, Smith was = nephew of _rovisionsl
governor Henry Smith, and had in Texas & numerous &nd influential
family connection, all of which he 8killfully used in furtherance
of his business ventures,

Joseph F, Smith owned in his own right a number of unlocated
land certificates, end the menmbers of his femlly owned many others,
which they entrusted to him to locate, Deslides those belonging
to himaelf and lfawily, Smith had a contract with iirzeh iAnn Wllle
iamson, wife of Gemeral 7‘homes Teylor willlismson, of Shreveport,
Louislana, to locate for her eighty certificates for 64) acres
each, ‘he Williamson certificates were part of those lssued by
the Kepublic of Texns in compramise of the ":irst Texian Lo=zn",



S
floated during the revolution, It would seem that Smith and
the Williamsons became acquainted when all of them lived in
Washington, Arkansas Terrltory, several years before, It seems
& strange circumstance that Smith should have concelved the
idea of locating these certificates upon the ground already
covered by the Power and Hewetson grants, referred to, in view
of the fact that Colonel Power and Governor Smith had been
firm personel and polltical friends during the dark days of
the revolution, and the further fact that Colonel George W,
Fulton, smn-in-law of Governor Smith, was at the time asso-
ciated with Colonel Power and Colonel Henry L. Kinney in the
promotion of the townsite of Aransas Clty on ocne of the very
leagues which Joseph F. Smith had in mind,

It would seem, however, that Power and Governor Smith had
had some business dealings in 1837, 1838 and 1839, in which Smith
had glven Power his promissory notes in a considerable amount.
These notes were never paid and Power later sued Smith. As re-
vealed in several parts of our history? Smith was contentious
and vindicative, as well as ruthless, in his methods. He no
doubt became emblttered with Power in the note transaction,
which probably produced the inspiratlion and motive for his ne-

phew's subsequent harsh conduct towards Power,

S Power v. Smith, 14 Texas, 4




Howsoever, the idee occurred to Smith that because the spe~-
cizl consent of the Mexican Federal Exscutive had not been ob-
teinsed thereto, the privately purchesed ;rsnts were void. The
land covered by these grunts was among the cholcest and best lo-
cated in the Fepublic; hence the game was well worth the candle,

£lthoush an able lawyer himself, Smith surrounded himself
with & galaxy of legal lumineries, including Abner iipacomb,
Alexender H. Phillips =nd Xilford P, Norton. Lipscomb was short-
ly elevated to the Supreme Court. The reported cases show that
he had to sue Smith for his esrned ree.6

6 Smith v, Lipscomb, 13 ‘lexas &3

Norton, who wag then 8 law partner of Senetor Phillips,
went to Llack Point in the winter of 1838, to look sfter Smith's
interests. He was accompanled by his beautiful and telented
wife, sho kept a diary during their lonely scjourn of several
nonths at that place.

7 THortan, Mllford P., Papers, University of fexas Library
Huson, Hobert, St. 8 of Arensas L.,
Huson, Hobart, Liskrict Judies of hefugio County, Lefugio
iimely Remarks, 1941, p. G0 (bBlography)

In the spring of 1539, willerd lichardson, then deputy dis-
trict surveycr, and later the renowned editor of the "Galveston

News"', commenced surveying locations for Smith in the area abutt=



ing the northwesterly shore of Copanoc (then called Aransas)

bay. Among those surveyed that year were the Joseph F. Smith,

We We Smith, Herry Smith and Ellisha Maxey surveys, a8 well as nu=
merous Williamson surveys. These were located across not only
the Power snd Hewetson grants but the Jesusa de Leon, Juaen Pobe~-
dando, and Tomas Galan colonial grants as well, The surveys be=
ing completed, Smith filed the field notes together with his
certificates in the General Land Office and demanded the issu-
ance of patents. Then began a serles of litigation which lasted
for about fifteen years,

The first effort to establish a port town at Black Point,
so far as there 1s any record, was in the Fall of 1840, Om
September 19th of that year, Smith entered into a contract with
Joseph F. Armstrong, (the latter beilng represented by Willard
Richardson, the surveyor). By its terms, Smith agreed to convey
to Armstrong a fourth interest in 2,000 acres of land at Black
Point, which had been surveyed by Richardson by virtue of land-
scrip issued to Thomas Green, of Riclmond, Virginie, (First Tex-
ian Loan) and for which patents were not yet issued, It was
agreed that in case Smith falled to obtain patents, he should
reimburse Armstrong for all improvements made by him under the

contract.s

8 Refugio County Deed Records, Vol. E, p. 124, Contract
between Joseph P, Smith and Joseph F. Armstrong, dated Septem-
ber 19, 1840,
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Shortly thereafter Armstrong assigned an interest in his
share to Benjamin F, Neal, then chief justice of Refugio Coun=-
ty. Neal, incidently, 1s credited with having started Richard=
son on the latter's brilliant career as a journalist., Neal
owned an interest in the Galveston "News", which he subsequent-

ly sold bo Richardson.9

9 Huson, Hobart, Saint Mary's of Aresnsas, Refuglo iimely
Remarks, lssues of March, 193%,
Galveston News,Centennial Edition, April 11, 1942
Huson, Hobart, District Judges of Refuglo County, Refu-
glo Timely Remarks, 1941, p. 81

Vhat progress, 1f any, was made towards establishing the
towm 1s unknown, The western frontier was then in & state of
turmoll and lawlessness. The Mexican Federalists had abandoned
the fleld and ralds across the Rueces by Mexlcan bands were
frequent, The town of Refugzio was sacked September 1, 1841,
and some of its cltizens murdered. The county orficers moved
to the Carlos ranch on the north side of the San Antonio River
and transacted publlic business from that place, Then came the
Vasquez invasion of March, 1842, and the Battle of the Nueces,
in July of the sams year, Smith and Neal were members of Came-
eron and Basker's ranger company and were in the saddle a great

deal of the time, and fought in the battle of ths Nueces,

10 Ref%gio Timely Remarks, Centenniel Edltlion, December 14,
1934, p. 11.

Power, Philip, Memoirs, HSE.

Brown, John Henry, Histoary of Texas, Vol. 2, pp. 215-218




In September, 1842, came news of General Woll's invssion
of Texas, and Smith went to San Antonio with Cameron and Bsker's
company, which included Israil Canfield, Jr., the district clerk.
Baker was sheriff of the county. These men went with Somervell
to the Rio Grande and there left with the Mier expedition, all
being captured at Mier, Smlth remsined in Perote prison until
his release on September 16, 1844,1i1

11 Brown, John Henry, History of Texas, Vol. 2, p. 224
\iade, Houston, Notes and Fragments of the Mier Expe-
dition, Lagrange Journal, 1936, Vole. 1, Ds 153

While Smith languished in the dungeon of Perote the Black
Point townsite also languished, He returned to Texas the latter
part of 1844, and picked up where he had left off, Neal and
Armstrong appear to have had no further connection with the pro-
Ject, After annexation Neal moved to Corpus Christi, where he
became successively, legislator, first mayor, and district
judge., VWhet became of Armstrong is not known.

Soon after Smith's return to Texas, Colonel Power began
to press for payment of the notes of Smith, which he held. In
1845, Power sued Smith in the district court of Brazoria Coun~
ty. Smith defeated the action by a plea of limitation.

on August 7, 1845, Smith entered into two contracts with
the Williamsons. The first adjusted accounts with Mrs. Willism=

son relative to locations which Smith had had made for her. In
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consideration of her agreeing to pay the expenses of obtalning
patents to the eighty locatlions, Smlth assigned to her twenty-
nine located certificates covering lands "on the northwest shore
of the bay of Aransas and between the Mission and Aranses rivers"
and twenty-two "located on the island of Mustang" and "contalning
by estimation, 18,560 acres of land". The balance of the located
certificates were retalned by Smith for hils services in making
the locations of all certificatea.12

12 Contract between Joseph F. Smith and Tirzah Ann Villlamson
and husband, dated August 7, 1845, recorded in Vol. K, page 167,
Refugio County Deed Records. See also Bond dated April 13, 1854,
recorded Vol. F, ppe. 41=-42, same records.

The second contract provided that the contracting parties
should "pool thelr several interests in 2,460 acres of land at
Black Point, and should bear equally the expense of establish-
ing a town at Black Poiant on the survey owned by Smith, the town

to be called "Aransas".l3

13 Contract between Josegh Fo Smith and Tirzah Ann William=-
son and husbend dated August 7, 1845, recorded in Volume K, page
170, hefuglo County Deed Records.

The two contracts, although dated in 1845, were not filed
for record until many years later, and meanwhile Smith appears

to have ignored their existence for several years.
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The Ninth and last Congress of the Republic of Texas,
inspired no doubt by Smith enacted a law providing that "all
persons owning lands in the counties of Refugio and San Patri-
clo, by titles from the Mexican govermment, or govermment of
Coahulla and Texas, the lines of which have not been correctly
and permanently marked and designated, shall, within two years
fram the passage of thils act, cause the same to be resurveyed,
at their own expense, by the county surveyor of the county in
which sald land is situated, and shall cause permanent corners
to be affixed to sald surveys; provided, that nothing herein
authorized to be done shall validate titles not otherwise valid."

The act became effective February 1, 1845.14

14 Acts 9th Congress, 18495, pp. 77-78

This and other leglislation calculsted to unseat titles in
the two counties aroused great indlignation and apprehension on
part of the original colonists thereof. Between 1847 and 1854
a number of "indignation meetings" were held at Refuglo and
San Patriclo, and memorlals were prepared and presented to the

legislature, but to no avail.15

15 Proceedings of Meeting of Cltizens of Refuglo and San
Patricio Counties held at Refuglo October 10, 1853, with Petition
to Legislature and Reply of Joseph F, Smith thereto, Archives,
State Library, Austin.
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By the year 1857 the litigetion with Colonel Power came
to an end, the Supreme Court holding Powert!s privately pur-
chased grants to be vold, thereby c:eating vacancles sub ject
to location, and the Commissioner of the General Land Office
issued patents under the Smith and Willlamson certificates,
as well as to others who hsd made like locatlions over the Power

lands.t®

16 Smith v. Power, 2 Texas, 57
Egery v. Power, 5 Texas, 500
Smith v. Power, 14 Texas, 146
Smith v. Power, 23 Texas, 29
Teague v. Egory, 65 U.S. 2064, 16 L.Ed. 655
Foote v. Egery, 65 U.S. 267, 16 L.Id. 656, (This was
Henry S. Foote, historian of Texas)

Thus was Colonel Power stripped of the fruits of his fore-
sight and oppoartunity,

About this time the United States governmment had had a
survey made of the Texas coast for the purpose of discovering
the nearest deep water port to San Antonio. This survey was
made by Captain Randolph B. Marcy, of the United States Armmy,
agslsted by MajJor Robert S. Neighbors, of the Texas Rangers.
Marcy, who eventually became a general, had made a survey of
the Red River and other Texas streams. His report declared
that the site of St. Mary's was the best port in western Texas
nearest not only to San Antonio but to Chihushua, Mexico, as

well.17
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17 Russell, Lyman Brightmen, Recollections MSS

With his titles now secure, and having this favorable rec=
omendation from an eminent military man, Smith saw an opportun-
1ty to meke his projected town the principal port for the army
establishment at San Antonlo, At that time James Vance was con=-
tractor to the army stetioned at Bexsar; in fact, the headquar=~
ters of the department were located in the "Vance House" on
Houston street. (This was long before the establishment of Fort
Sam Houston on Govermment I1111), On February 10, 1857, Smith
made a contract of partnership with Vance, wherein they "mutual-
ly sagreed to bulld up a Town to be called the Town of Aransas
% 4 # on the northwestern shore of the Bay of Aransas®, (by
which name Copeano bay was then still celled). Vance was to
have a quarter interest in 1016,.,75 acres, including the site
of the town and "promised to use his influence to make said
Town a shipping port so far as his influence may extend for
the upper section of the country"., Later the same year s simi-
lar contract, also for a quarter interest, was made by Smith
with A, C. Meyers, of New York City, who was also influential

in army circles.18

18 Contract between Joseph F. Smith and James Vance, datsd
February 10, 1857, and recorded in Volume F, pages 496-497, Re~-
fugio County Deed Kecords.

Contract between Joseph F, Smith and A, C, Meyers, dated

October 31, 1857 and recorded in Volume I, pagce 498, Refugilo
County Deed Records.
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Nought appeers to have resulted from these contracts, and
in 1858, we find Smith reverting to his original contract of
1845 with the Willlamsons, In the meantime, however, Smith
had laid out a tomsite, not at Black Point as he had agreed
with the Willlamsons, but at a site about two miles further
up the bay, which townsite he had named "St. Mary's of Aransas",
The town had been laid out, as Smith believed, entirely on the
Elisha Maxey survey, which he owrned, but due to misplacing of
a declmal volnt actually extended on one of the 1. 4, Willlam-
son surveys, owned by Mrs. Wllllamson. 7The error was not dis-
covered until many years later - to Smith's sorrow (for once).

General ¥illiamson was induced to take a more active ine-
terest In the project than he had evidenced theretofore, In
1857 Williamson agreed to build s whari and warehouse '"in front
of the Town of Arsnsas" and on September 15th of that year
Smith deeded him the land on which the wharf head was belng
laild; and on March 10, 1807, contracted that Williamson should
have a fourth 1nterest in 1010 acres, including the site of
sald town, Williamson agreed to psy Smith 10,000 out of the
first money comin; to his share from the sale of town lots.

The contract provided, "that the sald parties to this contract
agree to builcd up a town called St, Mary's of Aransas in said
state and county of Refuglo on the northwestern shore of the

Bay of Aransas and between the mouths oI the Aransas and Mission

rivers," 19
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19 Deed from Joseph F. Smith to T. T. Willlamson, dated
September 15, 18587, recorded in Volume F, pp. 234-239, Refugilo
County Deed Records,

Contract between Joseph F, Smith and T, T, Willliamson
dated March 10, 1858, and recorded in Volume ¥, pages 227~-228,
Refuglo County Deed Records,

The wharf and warehouse were completed by Williamson dur-
ing the first part of 1858, On March 224 VWillismson sold a
half interest in the wharfage property to John W, Vineyard,
the founder of Ingleside, and who thereafter became active

in the promotion of the town of St. Mary's.zo

20 Deed from T. 1o wllliamson to J. W. Vineyard, dated
March 22, 1858, snd recorded in Volume F, pp. 238-289, Refuglo
County Deed Records.

Thus, at last St. Mary's, with three live-wire promoters

was finally on her way to success.



CHAPTLR II

EAKLY SETILERS OF BLACK POINT

vhile Copano bay was undoubtedly visited by Spanish nav~
1gator explorers, the first known roundings of the bay were
made by Captain Monroe, of the schooner "Amos Wright", in

1823, when he landed the Beale and Grant colony at El Copano.1

1 Yoakum, Henderson, Histary of Texas, Redfield, New York,
1856, vol. 1, page 317

Kennedy, Willlem, Histary of Texas, vol. 21, page 57,
and Map of Aransas bay.

Among the Beale and Grant colonists were Francis Welder,
his wife and sons, John and Thomas. After the abandonment of
Dolores, they went to Matamorsass, where Mrs., Velder died, In
May, 1826, the father and sons landed at Black Point, and af-
ter independence was won, obtained headrights in Refuglo county.
For a time they lived on Live Qak Peninsular, nelghbors to Col-
onel Power, whose daughter, Dolores, John Welder married, Fran=-

cls Welder died, and the sons and thelr famlllies moved to Black

Point.2

2 Huson, Hobart, Salnt Mary's of Aransas MSS

Another early settler near Black Polnt was Major Cyrus W,
Egery, a ‘lexlan veteran, who established in 1837 a ranch on
the island between Black Point and Live Jak Peninsular, now

known as Egery's Island., About 18851 Egery bought 200 acres on
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Elack Point and bullt a home there. Subsequently he moved
into the town of St, Mary's where he diled. Egery was a prom=-
inentv man of Refuglo county, participeting in many Indlan and
border fights, and being at one time chief justice of the

c:ounty."5

3 Huson, Hobart, virectory of 0fficials of Refugio County,
pages B, 2, 6, 7, 11, 16
Russell, Lyman B,, Memolrs [SS
Burmeister, Sallie J., Recollections MS3

Who Peter Doran was, oar where he came from, or where he
went, 1s unknown, but he, perhaps, was the first white actual
settler of Black Point itself, He remalned therec until 1849
when he sold his 14 acre tract to Major John lowland Viood, who
moved upon it that year, and continued to reside upon it until
his death, Major Wood came to Texas 1n 1836 with Morehousels
New York battalion, After San Jacinto he remalned in the reg-
ular army of the Republlc, and wes, for seversl years, stationed
at Victorie, There he became interested in the cattle busliness
and resigned his commission to devote his full time to it., His
purchase from Doran wes the beginning of the famous "Bonnle View
Ranch" which extended eighteen miles inland from Copano bay,
and is immortalized in Dr, J. Frank Dobie's "A Vaquero of the

Brush Country". 4

4 Daniell, L. E,, Personnel of the State Govermment, etc.
Maverick Printing Co., Sen Antonlo, lexas, 1832, pages 629-641
Dobie, J. Frank, A Vaquero of the Brush Country, South=-

wost Press, Dallas, 1929, pages 12, et seq.
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The Bonnie View ranch almost surrounded the town of St.
Mary's in later years, and Dr. Lobie's "Vaquero" recollects
having driven cattle to the old town for shipment by water.

In the hinterland at no great distance from the bay were
the raencheros of some old Spanish grandee famllles, dating from
the beginnling of the Nineteenth Century. At the San Patricio
crossing of the Arensas river was the ranch of Don Jose Mlguel
Aldrete, which had been founded in 1808 by Don Martin de Leon,
the father-in-law of Don Jose.®

5 Victorla Advocate, Centennial Edition, September 28,
1934, Volume 88, No., 12, page 10

The Aldretes were most prominent and influential in public
affairs, Jose Miguel had been alcalde of Goliad, and onse of
the Commiscsioners to the Power and Hewetson Colony, and one of
the first justices of Refuglo County, His son Trinlidad was &
captain In the Texian army, and a redoubtable Indian fighter.
Another son, Rafael, was a captain In the Confederate army,

and a praminent citizen of his time.

6 Huson, Hobart, Salnt Mary's of Aransas, Refuglo Timely
Remarks, March, 1937

In addition to flve and one quarter leagues of land origie-

nally granted to the Aldrete family, it also owned the league
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grant to Jesusa de Leon, a daughter of the empresario, and sis-
ter-in-law of Don Jose Miguel. This was one of the old grants
which Smith had attempted to cover with his own certificates,
vut in thils Instance without success,

The Castillos, Coblans, and Pobedandos, slso had ranches
in the vicinity.

In about 1840 Captein Phillip Dimmit bought a small ranch
from his friends the Aldretes, and settled on 1it, This ranchita
was located on the Aransas river, and was Dimmit's home at the
time of his capture near the prescnt town of Calallen, July 4,
1841. During the time Dimmit lived in Refuglo County, he was

one of the Justlices of the county.7

7 Chebot, Frederick Charles, The Perote Prisoners, The
Naylor Company, San Antonlo, 1934, pages 41,142,
Huson, Hobart, Directoryof Officials of Refuglo County,

A,B’D.

Among the earliest ranchers in this area was Daniel 0'Drige
coll, a Power colonist, sergeant at San Jacinto, public official,
and ancestor of Clara and KEobert Driscoll and Birdie Driscoll
Rookeg Lobert Driscoll, Sr,, and Jeremish O, Driscoll, sons of
the old soldier, and Captein Daniel C, Doughty, are prominently

mentioned in "A Vaquero of the Brush Country.8

8 Huson, Hobart, Iron Men, (privately published) 1940, p.57
Huson, Hobart, uirectory of Officials of Refuglo County,
PPe 2, 3, 4.
’ Huson, Hobart, Saint M 's of Aransas, Refugio Timely
Remarks, March, April, May, 193
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The Clark brothers, Henry, John and .illliam, settled at
Black Point in the 18408, and engaged in the cattle business,
All of them saw service in the revolution and in the continu-
ous border wars, Their sister, Nancy, was the wife of Major
John H. Vood, Henry Clark became prominent in public affairs
of the county.

Elisha Mmxey, a wounded Tex:an veteran, on whose grant
the Town of St, Mary'!s was bullt, was living at Black Point in
1845,

Jacob Kring, ancestor of the famlly of that name prominent
in civic circles in South ‘exas, was an orphaned boy, resred
by the Welder family, H1ls capture at Black Point by Indians,
and his rescue by a posse led by Major Wood 1s interestingly
told in the bilography of the latter cont;kned in Daniell's

Personnel of the Texag State Govermment, which has been hlther-

to referred to.

At or before the time Smith lald out the ITown of St, Mary's
he caused a subdivision to be made of ten acre farm tracts some
distance to the west and northwest of the townsite. In making
this survey an arroyo was encountered which had no name on esa=-
tablished meps, Smith humorously named it Quo Warranto bsyou,
by which name it 1is still known,

These farm tracts were settled in advance of the settlement

of the town. The farmers arrived between 1850 and 1855, while
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no appreciable number of townsmen arrived until 1857, Among
the earllest settlers of the farm tracts werse the felliowlng
families: John Addison Barber, Benjamin Darber, Joshua Darber,
Basll Crow Braghier, %Willism Brightman, John Chambliss, David
Corsant, Theodore Monroe Dorsett, Willlam J, Dorsett, Joseph L.
vugat, Peter Dugat, Auzust A. Dunn, Thomas B. Ximball, Charles
Frederick Ielsering, James LK. McCarthy, Benjamin Maley, George
We Maley, John Martin, John i, laton, Charles Smith, Joseph
Toups, Sevennes Toups, and Captain William T, Townsend.,

Arriving about the same time were John and Henry Linney,
who settled on Black Point at the shell reef of the Aransas
river, and Pedro No. Curbelo, father-in-law to John Linnecy, who
established a ranch a few miles interior,

Many of these families, Brashier, Corsant, Curbelo, lugat,
Linney, Maley, Maton and Toups, were orisinally colonlal Louisl-
anians, and their forebearers had fought in the American revo-
lutlon in the Spanish army. Most of these families had moved
to Liberty municipallity in Texas prior to 1835, The Barbers
and Lorsetts also lived in that municipelity, Barber's H1lll be~-
ing named for this Barber family. Practically all the heads of
_these Iiberty countians who came to Kefuglo County had served
in the Texas revolution, some with distinction. The Maleys
were conmnected with the notable Kokernot famlly.

It 1s very likely that these Loulsiana rooted families

were influenced by General Williamson to migrate to Refuglo
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County, The Dugats, however, were in Refuglo County as early
as 1850.

Later settlers of farm tracts included: Joserh A, Lemore,
William Grecn Kelly, James Peeks, Augustus Peeks, Edwin Peets,
Elles KRice, VWilliam G. Roark, David M., Rupe, J. A, Seward, and
Colonel L. B. Camp.

The descendants of many of these pioneer settlers still

live in Refugio County.9

9 Russell, Lyman Brightman, Recollectiona MSS
Huson, Hobart, Saint Mary's of Aransas, Refuglo Timely
Remarks, April, May, June, 1937

By 1851 a scattered settlement had grown up on the penin-
sular., On February 17, 1852, Black Point was created an elec=-
tion precinct, of which Major Egery was appointed presiding of=-
ficer, The polling place remeinsd at Black Point untll 1857
when 1t was removed to St. Mary's, A public school was estab-
lished at Black Point in 1855, with Egery as presiding trusatee.

This school was later moved to St. Mary's.lo

10 Minutes Commissioners' Court, Refuglo County, Vol., 1l
PPe 73, 98

In 1851, Major John H. Viood was elected justice or commis=
sioner for the St, Mary's precinct, which office he held for

about forty years,



CHAPTER III
THE PORT AND FIRST TOWNSPLOPLE

The plat of the Town of St. Mary's, dated August 1, 1857,
shows the townsite to have contained ninety~one blocks, each
400 feet square, arranged in seven tiers of thirteen blocks
each, the first thirteen being separated from the bay by a
wide beach below the bluff, designated on the map as "The
Strand". The streets paralleling the bay were, in order, Strand,
First, Second, Third, Fourth, Fifth, and Sixth Streets. At
right sngle to the bay extending the full depth of the towm,
and beginning between Blocks Seven and Eight was Center Street.

At the foot of Center Street, and below the bluff, were
the wharf and warehouses, built by General Williamson in 1857,
The wharf extended a distance of some 1200 feet to the deep
channel, which wound serpent-like through the bay, making a
bulge in front of El1 Copano, then twisting through the comb-
like reefs, past Live Oak Point and Lamar into Aransas bay
proper, and through that bay over "the bar" into gulf waters.
This channel was navigable to ocean goling vessels, but the
"bar" was extremely dangerous to cross, which fact eventually
spelled the doom of St., Mary's as s port.

The Aransas bgr was the bane of shippling from earliest
times, and the maritime history of the bay is filled with
tales of disastrou:. shipwrecks at that place. Power's colony

was wrecked there.1
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1l ILinn, John J., Reminlscences of Fifty Years in Texas,
De & Jo Sadlier & Co., New York, 1883, ppe. 50«32,
Huson, Hobart, El Copano, Anclent Port of Bexar and
La Bahia, Timely Remarks, Refuglo, 1935, DDe 6, 15, &0.
Huson, Hobart, Saint Mary's of Aransas, MSS.
Russell, Lyman Brightman, Reminiscences, iSo.

Smith had the advantoge of Captalin Monroe!s soundings and
Captaln Marcy's explorations, but he caused further soundings
to be made., Ceptaln Frederick Augustine and his boat the
"Waterloo" were employed to mark the channel. As part compen=
sation Smith deeded the o0ld sea dog some town lots in Ste Mary's,
the deed reciting that "Augustine furnished the boat t*Vaterloo!
and assisted me to sound out the channel of the Bay of Aransas

to the town of Saint Mary'!s of Aransas".®

2 Deed from Joseph F. Smith to Frederick Augustine, dated
August 7, 1858, recorded in Refuglo County Deed Records.

Judge Lymen B. Russell says of Captain Augustine: "He was
a bar and bay pilot. The first time I knew him (in 1868) he
piloted an ocean schooner, the !'Captain Chesley! over the bar
and to Saint Mary's loaded with Floridas long leaf lumber. He
had lost a leg sometime in 1life and seemed to be a typlcal one~=

legged tar. In later 1life he quit piloting and purchased a
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cattle ranch in Duval County, near San Diego".3

3 Russell, Lyman Brightman, Reminiscences MSS
Johnson, Louls Henry, Recollections, 1937 MSS
Huson, Hobart, Saint Mary's of Aransas, Timely Remsarks,
Refugio, Texas, April - May, e

Until he retired from the sea, Augustine was s licensed
pilot with headqusarters at St, Mary's.

In 1860 another wharf was projected at St. Mary's. Omn
June 30, 1860, Smith made a deed to Gilbert Bee Willett to a
wharf site 30 feet north of the Willlamson-Vineyaerd warehouse,
on conasideration "that Gilbert Bee Willett # # # haes promised
me to bulld a warehouse in or near the Town of St. Mary's suite
able far doing & forwarding and cammission business and shall
cause it to be done within twelve months from this date",?

4 Deed from Joseph F, Smith to Gllbert Bee Wlllett, dated
June 30, 1860, recorded Volume F, page b95, Refuglo County Deed
Records.

This warehouse appears to have been built, but due perhsaps
to the Civil War which intervened, the second wharf was not com=
pleted,

Willismson and Vineyaerd conducted the wharf business until
after the Civil War, On October 1, 1867, they exescuted a deed
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to Charles F. Balley, as Trustee for the Saint Mary's Vharf

Company, pending its incorporation.5

5 Deed from T. T, Williamson and J. W, Vineyard to Charles
F. Balley, Trustee, amted October 1, 1867, recorded in voiume
G, page 368, Refugio County Deed Records.

The incorporation seems not to have been campleted, but
the Saint Mery's Wharf Company conducted as & limited partner-
ship or stock campany. Among the stockholders were Willliamson,
John He Wood, Trinidad Aldrete., The control eventuslly passed
into the Cottingham family, and after they left St, Mary's, the
properties came into the hands of Major Wood and some of his
sons.

A third wharf was projected further dowm the bay. On
June 23, 1858, Smith made a deal with Vineyard whereby the
latter was to build a wherf and warehouse In front of a tract
of 262,41 acres immediately adjoining the town on the south-
west, 0ld time citizens say that they do not remember this
wharf as having been built,®

6 Contract between Joseph F. Smith and John W, Vine
dated June 23, 1858, recorded in Volume ¥, page 127, Refﬁgio
County Deed Records.,

The Williamson wharf, with its two warehouses (one aof
which may have been Willett's) and the palisaded stock pens
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on Block Seven, became the heart of all business enterprise in
the town, which in a few yearsz became the leading lumber market
for west Texas. From all accounts, as we shall later see, the
wharf was well equipped and efficlently conducted until its des-
truction by the great storms.

Among the first settlers of the towmn of St. Mary's were
Sgmuel S. Mapes, Thoms S, Tatum, Cornelius snd Benjamin Strib-
ling, J. ¥. Crandall, T, P. McRNeill and Dr, Rufus A. Nott, who
bought & tract outside the towmsite, Thamas H, Stribling, a
lawyer, and brother to Cornelius and Ben, thought of hanging
out his shingle in the new town, and with this in view, bought
some acreage near Dr. Nottt's, Thomas H. Stribling, however,
remained at San Antonioc where he attained distinction and
wealth, A sister of the Stribling brothers was the wife aof
Ms jor Lieuen M. Rogers, & powerful figure in the politics of
Refuglo county.

In 1857 Smith bullt & three stary concrete house on Block
Four overlooking the bay. The same yesr J. M. Crandall began
construction of & large two story concrete bullding at the op-
posite end of town, This bullding was generslly known as the
"opera house®,

From the deed records it appears that Smith was willing
to donate & lot to anyone who would actually build in the new

town. Among those who received deeds far such consideration
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were Thomas S. Tatum, Sarah Fant, Sarah Dumphy, Henry C. Bellwws,
a blacksmith, Willie A, Williamson, T. P. McNelll, and George
Bell "of the Army of the U.S.". Deeds were also given to the
several church denominations.

Also among the first arrivsls were the three Hobby brothe
ers, Alfred M., Edwin E, and Barney, and their widowed mother.
Alfred Hobby had farmed a partnership with & man named Post,
of New Orleans, and in 1857 Post and Hobby bullt a two-story
wooden building, facing the bay, in which they conducted a
general mercantile store., Alfred M. Hobby was silver tongued
orator, as well as a man of letters, and he was elmost immediete-
ly elected to represent the Refuglo district in the State legis-
lature, Within a few shart years he became one of the heroic
figures of the county, as we shall sgee,

Shortly after the arrival of the Hobbys, the Cottingham
femlly settled at St, Mary's. They included James I. Cotting-
hem, & business man of outatanding ability, his brother, Gideon
We Cottingham, a Methodist minister, and another brother, Jsmes
I. Cottingham shortly became the largest lumber Importer and
dealer in west Texas, and, as has bsen stated, the owner of
the St, Mary's Wharf Company.

George W, and Samuel C, Vineyard, son of John W. Vineyard,
established the mercantile firm of Vineyard & Son, prior to
1860, John W. Vineyard was an inactive partner of this firm,
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which flourished until about 1873, According to Judge L. B,
Russell, Vineyard & Son owned and operated its own schooner
and imported lumber from Florida,

In 1857 or 1858 Dr. Rufus A. Nott bullt & two story wooden
structure at the intersection of Center and Second streets
and installed a drug store. Dr. E. F. Carpenter arrived at
St. Mary's shortly after Dr, Nott. Dr. J. A. Throckmorton ar-
rived a little later.

The original carpenter contractors of the town were John
Shoemaker and Captain John F, Low., The latter had been a sol-
dier of the Republic, and served with Hays rangers in the Mex-
ican War., Upon organization of Nueces County he was elected
treasurer. During the Civil War he was captain of a minute
man company. Patrick Reynolds was a stone mason, and T. B,
McNelll & brick maker, McNeill established a brick yard about
1858 at the west end of the town,

About 1858 Francis Marion Ellls and his brother Ben Ellils
settled in the new town. They were related to the Egery famlly.
As stated by Judge Lymen B, Russell, Frencis M. Ellis "was
one of the first busineas men to settle in St. Mary's and pro-
bably the last to leave®, In 1858 he and Francis Loftin were
partners in the mercantile business under style of Ellis &
Loftin. The latter died in 1861, In 1867 Ellls engaged in
the general mercantile business with R, H. Wood, son of Major
John H. Wood, the firm being Ellis & Wood. Besides the mercan-
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tile business, Ellls owned and operated the three-story Ellils
Hotel,

The "Neel House" the other principal hotel, was established
across the alley from the Ellls Hotel, about 1860. 1Its propriet-
ors were Martin Neel and wife, Isebella, The Neel house 1s one
of the few existing bulldings of 0ld St, Mary's. It is now
owned and occupied by the Brightman boys.

Other hotels and boarding houses of St. Mary's prior to
the Civil War were those of James M. Doughty, Thomas J. Howard
and John F. Low,

There was a "barrel house" or "quart shop" operated by
George S, Sherman, one of the early settlers of the town. Juige
Lymen B, Russell says of him: "I think he came from somewhere
in Minnesota. He had a wife, but no children, # # % He had
& sense of humor that made the old men as popular locally as
Will Rogers was natlonally".

J’ When the Civil War began, St, Mary's boasted a population
of about 300,

A post office was established at St, Mary's, December 8,
1857, HajJor Egery was the first postmaster, Until the post
office was established Smith provided a private mall service
from Gray's ranch to the tom. This he maintained for a year
or two.

By the time the Civil War began, the following families
were living in St, Mary's, or its suburbs:
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John Adams, W. We. Arnett, Frederick Augustine, Mary Bailey,
Charles F, Balley, F, C. Balley, George Bell, Henry C. Bellows,
Willliam Bonner, Lucinds Borick, William Bewell, L. B, Camp,
William D, Campbell, John C., Campbell, Dr. E., F., Carpenter,
John Cassidy, W, D. Colton, Stephan Cook, Gideon W, Cotting-
ham, James I, Cottingham, J. C. Cottingham, W, S. Cummings,
John Dart, Deweese, Doyle, Thomes Dulse, Richerd Dumphy, Syl=-
vanus Dunhem, Robert Dunman, James M, Doughty, Drske, James
Dunn, George W. Edgett, Cyrus W. Egery, Francis M. Ellis, John
V. Ellis, Sarsah E, Ellis, Dr. Theodore Fsbian, Sarsh Fant, Dr.
M. W. C. Frazier, R, Godderd, Vm. S. Helsey, Charles Hess,

John W, Hester, J. A, Hockett, Howells, Charles Hughes, A. J.
Hitchings, Anna S. Hobby, Alfred M, Hobby, Barney Hobby, Edwin
E. Hobby, Richard Jordan, Elisha leonsrd, John Linney, Francls
Loftin, John F, Low, Wm, H. Long, A. N. Lehan, James R. Mc-
Carthy, Archibald McNeill, T. B. McNelll, Mrs, C. F. W, Mc=-
Grew, Samuel S, Mapes, James M, Martin, J. P. Mitchell, I,

N. Mitchell, Berry Merchant, J. S. Morris, Martin Neel, Dr.

R. A, Nott, Padgett, Charles M. Philips, H. F. Price, Oliver
P. Reid, Patrick Reynolds, John A, RKichmond, Gecrge S. Sherman,
John Shoemsker, Joseph F, Smith, E. L. Snow, R. H. Spence,

A, H. Stewart, Michael Stoner, Abel Stowe, Cornellus K. Strib~
ling, Benjamin ¥, Stribling, Conde Sweeney, Thomas S, Tatum,
Dre Je. A. Throckmorton, William T, Townsend, George W, Vine-

yerd, Samuel C, Vineyard, J. C. Waldrop, Lyman H. Ward, Gil-
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bert B, Willett, John Willett, T. T, Willliamson, Morris Wilson,

Thomes He Wilson, and John He Wood.!

7 The foregoing 1s composite based on Minutes, Commissiorers?
Court, Refuglo County;
Deed Records of Refuglo County;
Scholastic Censi, Refuglo County, 1856-1861
Huson, Hobart, Saint Mary's of Aransas

Rea, William L., Memoirs, NMSS.
Russell, Lyman }’Briﬁtman, Reminiscences, MSS




CHAPTER IV
THE CIVIL WAR

/ Saint Mary's was firmly established and prosperous at the
time the Civil War began, Her citigens were energetic and cive
ic minded and engaged in expanding the potentialities of the
part, At the time that unhappy conflict became inevitsble, the
pramoters snd business interests of the town had tsken steps to
make the interior accessible to the port by getting the towm
included in the route of the Aransas Road Company. Thls enter=-
prise projected in 1852 by Colonel Pryor Lea and assoclietes,
envisaged a combination raillroad and turnpike from Lamar, across
Live 0Oak peninsular, through St. Mary's and Refuglo to Goliad,
In 1856, the charter of the compeny was amemded to permit
it to improve navigaetion across Arsnsas bar and between it and
Corpus Christil, and connect the improvements by rocad with a
draw bridge across Aransas reef, at Black Point., The cocmpany
had been incorporated, the right-of-way acquired, and sections
of the rosd completed, prior to the outbreak of the war, The
project remainded dormant during the war and was attempted to

be revived after the war, but without auccess.l

1 Articles of Incorporation, Aransas Roaed Company, Acts

4th leg. epproved Feb. 14, 1852; as amended by Acts 6th Leg,
Deed Records, Refugio County, Volumes: G, 2351,341;

H, 263; I, 126, 392; J, 271, 323, 338; M, 266, 4263 Q, 150,363,




Although there were/%ut few slaves at St. Mary's (Majar
%ood and the Driscolla'being the largest slave owners) the
sentiment of the town was intensely Southern and pro-secess=—
ion, The outstanding secession leader was Alfred Marmaduke
Hobby, who represented the Refuglo dlstrict in the state leg~
islature and was its delegate to the Secession Convention,
Colonel Hobuy was a typlcal Southern fire-eater, an eloquent

orator, an eble leader, and moreover, a fighting man.2

2 Huson, Hobart, Saint Mary's of Arsnsas, Refugio Timely
Remarks, Refuglo, 1937,
Dixon, Sam Houston, Poets and Poetry of Texas, (Bilo-
graphy of Alfred M. Hobby)
Journsl of the Secession Convention of Texas, Austin
Printing Company, Austin, Texas, 1912,

The Hobby family was the soul of the State's kights faec~
tion, and Edwin E, Hobby was secretary of the St. Mary's Castle
of the Knights of the Golden Circle, Among the Russell papers
is a letter dated April 14, 1861, written in the cipher of the
order by Edwin Hobby, from St., Mary's, to C, A. Russell, at

Helena.3

3. Wharton, Clarence, Texas Under Many Flags, Vole 2, ppe.
78, et seq.
Bridges, C. A., The EKnlghts of the Golden Circle, S.V.
Hist., Quart. Vol. 44, p. 287; a&ls0 note pp. 508~509
Hobby, Edwin, to C. A. Russell, Letter dated April 14,
1861, with L. B, Russell papers,
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Althouzh Texas was preponderately far Secession, a res-
pectable number of her citizens were staunch Unionists, Among
these was Colonel Little Berry Camp, who represented the Atag-
cosa district in the last legislature before the state seceeded.
His pro-union speeches and addresses put him out of harmony
with his constituents and upon expliration of his term he and
his numerous family moved to St, Mary's where they lived quietly
and unmolested throughout the war, In fact, despite his knowm
sentiments, the colonel became popular with his new neighbora.4

4 Wharton, Clarence, Texas Under Many Flags, American Hiat,
Soc. 1830, Vol. 2, pp. 81 et seq,
Camp, L. B., Papers, MSS.
Elliott, Clarence, Leather Standard Printing Co,
1938, ppe 41=96
dournal of the Secession Comvention of Texas, Austin
Printing Company, 1012

In anticipation of war several military companies were
organized in Refuglo County in the Spring of 1861, These in-
cluded the "Refugio Guards® and "Doughty'!s Spy Company® at
Refuglio, Upton's Home Guard Company at Lamar, Peter Fagan's
Minutemen on the San Antonio River, and three companies at St.
Mary's. These were Ceptain willism T, Townsend's "Home Guards",
of which A. M. and E, E, Hobby were privates, Captsin Rafael
Aldrete's "Jeff Davis Home Guards", camprised mostly of Mexi=-
cans, and Captain John Low's "Rough and Ready Home Guard",®



& Huson, Hobart, Saint Mary's of Aransas, Refugio Timely
Remarks, May = June, 1537,

Rosters of Refugio Couniy Companies, Archives, State
Library, Austin, Texas,

Colonel Hobby's patriotism and military ardor did not stop
with enlistment for home guard service, He immedistely set
about the organigzation of a reguler unit for field service,
and shortly had mustered for active duty the Eighth Texas In-
fentry Battalion, the nucleus of which were citizens of Refugiq
County. This battalion was composed of four infantry compan-
ies commsnded respectively by Captein Idwin E, Hobby, William
E, McCasmpbell, R. E, Jones and Rafael Aldrete. Alfred M, Hob-
by was commisslioned ma jor commanding the battalions. Attached
to it were Captain Benjamin ¥, Neal's heavy artlllery battery
and Captain H. Willke's light artillery battery.

The Eighth Texas Infentry Battalion immediately took the
field and was aasigned to guard the Texas coast between Lamar
and Corpus Christi. In time the latter place became head~
quarters of the unit. Various other units were concentrated
at Corpus Christi, and in the winter of 1862, s regiment was
formed of these several units, and designated as the Eighth
Texas Infantry Regiment with Alfred M. Hobby, colonel, Daniel
De Shea, lieutenant-colonel, Jchn Ireland and John A, Vernon,

majors. Beslides the originel 8th bsttalion and Garrett's
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battallon, the regiment had sttached Neal's battery, Ware's

mounted rifle company, and Maltby's cam.pany.6

& Rosters of 8th Texas Infantry, Wer Department, Wash-
1ngton, DeCo
Huson, Hobart, Saint Mary's of Aransas, Refugio Timely
Remarks, May - June, 1937.

Colonel Hobby'!s regiment left a brilllaent record, It
guarded the coast for three years, fought innumerable skir-
mishes on the islands and in and along the bays and inlets,
fought two battles In defemse of Corpus Christi, fought at
the battle of Galveston Island, and fought in the Loulsiane
campalgn, It and its commsnder covered themsslves with glory
and were cited for valor by the I.agislature.7

7 Huson, Hobart, Saint Mary?!s of Aransas, Refugic Timely
Remarks, June - July, 1957

Sutherland, Mary A, The Story of Corpus Christi, Rein
& Sons, Houston, Texas, 1916, ppe. 18~dl.

Writer's Project WPA, Corpus Christi, s Histo§x and
Guide, Caller-Times, Corpus C sti, s DPe 99~ .

In 1862 the Federal fleet becams active in the Gulf of
Mexico, and began relding the islands and coastal settlements,
The inhabitants of these exposed places fled to the mainland

far safety and were cared for in the various touna.a

8 Johnson, Peter A., The Two Sea-Captalns Johnson, MSS
PPe 5=9 4
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Huson, Hobart, El Copano, Ancient Port of Bexar snd
La Bahia, Refugio Timely Remarks, 1945, pDe 21-42

A number of refugees came to St. Mary's, as did also
soldlers? families who had been living in unprotected spots,
Among the latter were those of Joseph E, Plummer, Jr., and
Charles Frederick Pathoff, who had been living nesr El1 Copano.
Plummer returnsd from the war unacathed and took his family
back to their Copano home, Pathoff appears to have been
killed in the war, or at any rate, Mrs. Pathoff was a widow
shortly after the war ended, and remained at St, Mary's un-
til her death, According to Colonel Philip Power, Mrs. Path=
off was a Karankawa girl who was left an orphan when quite
young. Major Wood became her guardian and she was reared
by the Power family at E1 Copano., Mary Amarro Pathoff left
& son, Tom, who alsc died at St, Mary's, She and her son
were the last EKarankawas known to have lived in Refugio

Coun'cygg

9 Power, Philip, Memoirs, MSS
Huson, Hobart, Seint Mary's of Aransas, Refugio Timely
Remarks, 1937.
Burmeister, Salllie J., Reminiscences MSS
Brightmsn, Ardrew and Mort, Recollections, MSS
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In 1863 Copano bay was entered by vessels of the Federal
fleet., Lamar was raided and bombarded, El Copano wes passed
up, and a landing was made at St, Mary's. This incident is
related by Mrs. Clara Lemore Dugat, who at the time was a
small girl. Mrs. Dugab says:

I have a vivid recollection of the landing of the
Yankees at Saint Mary's durlng the Civil Wer., It hap~-
pened during the last year of the war, but the exact
date I do not now remember, I know only that my father,
Joseph A. Lemore, was & prisoner at the time, He had
taken hls bost up to Matagorda to get supplies for the
soldiers! familles at Saint Mary's, without knowing that
the federgls were in poassession at Matagorda. He and Cap=-
tain VWarren, who went with him, were captured and my fa-
ther died in prison afterwards. Captain Warren did not
live at Saint Mary's.

It was about noon, or perhaps a little after noon,
when two federal saliling vessels unexpectedly made their
appearance in the bay in front of the town. Practically
all of the men of the town were away at the war and all
who were left were women, children and cold or disabled
men and a few wounded soldiers who were at home on fur-
lough. We had heard of federsl raids all up and down the
coast and, of course, expected that one day they would
come to Saint Mary's, but their visit on this occealon
was a surprise,.

Before the people were aware of their presence the
town was alive with Unlon soldlers. There were many of
them=~1 do not know how many--but there were two warships
full of them. They did not shell the towm, but landed
quietly and without resistance, The wounded scidiers
went to the brush to avold capture. Among these was
Payton McNelll, whom I wlll mention later,

Our home at this time was in the town, on the bluff
overlooking the bay. Every house in the town, including
ours, was visited by a raiding party, which searched
through the houses, but did so in an orderly manner,
and did not harm the inhsbitants. The soldlers took
checkens and some provisions, but did steal much else,
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The Unlon captain came with e party to our home., He
was & courteous, pleasant gentlemsn. Our mother was much
alarmed and appealed to the captain for protection. She
told him of the ceptivity of our father and the fact that
he was a Free Mason, The captaln wes also a Mason and
gave strict orders to his men not to disturb us further,
The party went on to other houses.

Shortly after the Yankees had landed, & horsemen rode
into towm from the peninsulasr to warn the people that the
federal fleet was headed for Saint Mary's, Not knowing
that it had already arrived, he dashed up to the home of
Dr. Carpenter and shouted: "The Yankees are comingl" At
that particular moment & raiding party was searching the
Carpenter home and it came out and took the horseman pris-
oner, They carried him away with them when the left Saint
Mary's., I do not remamber the name of the horseman, but
he lived near Aransas Pass and had heard of the projected
descent on Saint Mery's, and had hurried overland, think-
ing to beat them to our town,

Detachments of the invaders were detailed to destroy
the warehouses, while others went out raiding into the
country, Two large warehouses at the wharf were demolished
by the federals. This was the only destruction which they
wrought, however,

One of the ralding parties went down to Major Wood's
home, at Black Point, a mile or so below Salnt Mary's,
The fences around the Wood place at that time were pali-
sades, that is logs set upright in the ground and in the
inclosure were some cattle moving around, This ralding
party from a distance conceivad the palisades to be men
and soldlers and hurried beck to Saint Mary's with the
information that there was a large body of men coming up
from Black Point to attack the federals.

At this instant, one of the federals claimed to

the roof of the school house to t ake observations, Stand-
ing on the roof he was a good target, It so happened that
Payton McNeill was hiding in the brush thicket near the
school house. He had a gun and took a shot at the sol-
dier on the roof. He was out of range, however, and the
soldler was not hurt, but dropped off the bullding and
came running to the business district, sounding the slam,
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Whether the fedserals feared an attack oar whether
they had finlshed thelr business at Saint Mary's, I do
not know, but shortly afterwards, they took to their
boats and left the place and never agsin returned, It
i1s my recollection that the Yanks were at Saint Mary's
about three or four hours, arriving a little after din-
ner and leaving about sun-down. It may have been that
they spent the nigﬁ there, but such 1s not my impres-
sion at this time,

11 Dugat, Clara Lemore, Recollections, MSS
Huson, Hobart, Saint Mary's of Aransas, Refugio
T4mely Remarks, June-July, 10& .

Mrs, Dugatt's brother-in-iaw, Charles E, Dugat, served in
Colonel Hobby's regiment and was one of the party which cap-
tured Lleutenant Kitteridge of the Federal Navy, near Corpus
Christi, which was one of the most noted of the regiment's
exploits,

A number of St, Mary's men returned to the states of
their origination for military service, Among these was
General Thomas Taylor VWilliamson, who returned to Loulasiana
where he becams a general staff officer, Dr. Rufus A. Nott
alsec returned to Loulslana and became a ranking surgeon of
the Confederate army, having chearge of the hospitals at
Vicksburg, His son, Thomas H. Nott, served in Hood's brigade.

Addison Barber, B, C. Brashear, James M. Doughty, Jere-
miaeh Q. Driscoll, Robert Driscoll, Joseph Lemore, Charles F.
Leisering, Peyton McNeill, George Vineyard, Samuel C, Vine-
yard, were among many St, Marians who served in Texas regl-

ments, other t han the 8th Infantry regiment,
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Amongz those who left to go to their old home states to
volunteer was John C., Campbell, who with his wife, Eleanor
N. (Shive) Campbell hed tasught the public school at St,
Mary's during 1859, 1860 ard 1861. This couple had been
married but a few years and were very devoted to each other,
When the war broke out Campbell completed his term, and
tock his wife back to Mississippl, to leave her with relsatives
while he was in the army. Campbell was killed in actiom,
His widow remalined in Misslssippl until the war was over,
There her son was born. After the war she returned to St.
Mary's with her child and taught in the public school until
her death several years later. Her son, Vill, became a
praminent business man of Southwest Texas.,

The people of St, Mary'!s shared the haerdships of war
camon to the people of the South. The Commissioners'! Court
of Refuglo County saw to it that food and clothing were dig=
tributed among soldierst? families, Active in thlis work in
the St, Mary's precinct were Major John H, Wood, Dr, E. F.
Carpenter, Francis M, Ellils, Charles E, Dugat ani Jamss R.
McCarthy. They also found time to do soldlering slong the

coast-ll

11 Minutes of Commissioners' Court of Refuglo County
Volume 1, From May, 1862 to April &, 1805,

With practically all of the able-bodied men in the mili~-
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tary service, the burden of civilian life was borne by the
women and young boys. At the close of the war, Fhilip Power,
youngest son of the Empresario, was only 16, and lived with
his widowed mother at Copano, In his Memolirs he tells of
living conditions during the warg~-

Salt was a scarce article in the interior through-
out the war, and wes worth its weight in gold, It was
accepted as money in exchange for most any other article
that could be sold, *# # # The Confedergte government
therefare, established salt warks along the coast, where
the seal water was run into pits and evaporated and the
salt ground by mills, There was & large salt works at
Lamar which the Federals destroyed. There was a salt
works at St. Mary'!s, The one at llssion bay was oper-
eted by the Brightmans or by McCarthy.

I suppose we who lived on the cosst fared better
during the war than those who lived in the interior.
We always had plenty of fish, oysters, wild game, and
salt # # # As I have said, there was very little
money that had any purchasing power., Confederate notes
were soon worthless, Our best monsy was Mexican silver,

¥ % #® 9%

During the war the Confederate States malls were
carried from Lamar to St, Mary's by way of Copano, I
dont't remember who had carried the malls at firat, but
finally there got to be such a dearth of able-bodled
men that Judge Lambert asked me to undertake the Job,
there being no one else, I was about 15 years old at
the time, and a strong, sturdy lad, I was thrilled
over the idea and the large salary that I was to get =~
eight dollars per month in Mexican silver, and not
Confederate bllls, I carried the malls for the Con-
federacy from that time until the end of the war,

‘ihe mails came into Copano by shlp and overland
from Refugio, I carrisd the mail sacks on my shouldera
to the passes of Misd on bay, where I had a skiff and
rowed over to the west side, and walked down the beach
to St, Mary's. Returning, I walked back to Mission
Pass, rowed the skiff to the east shore and walked
back to Copano. From Copano to Lamar I rode horseback
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back and forth along the beach, Lyman H., Ward was post-
master at St, Maryts, and Mrs, Jane P, O!Connor was
postmaster at Lamar. Judge Lambert, theg James Power,
Jr., was postmaster at Copano # # #% 1

12 Power, Philip, Memoirs, MSS
Huson, Hobert, EIl Copano, Ancient Port of Bexar and
Le Bahia, Refuglo Timely Remarks, Refuglo, 1960, DPe 42

The Southern Confederscy had no more ardent supporter
then Joseph F. Smith, Although a men of middle age, he
joined the army and saw active service. As will be seen,
he never surrendered when the Confederacy fell,

Another interesting character was Cornelius K. Stribling,
brother to district Judge Thamas H. Stribling of San Antonilo,
Cornelius was an active and ardent lMsson, and a founder of
Black Point Lodge, at St. Mery's. In 1860 he was elected
Grand Lecturer of Western Masonic District of Texas. The
district embraced the territory along the Gulf lying between
the Brazos andRlo Grande rivers. Stribling was asslduous
and energetic in discharge of his dutles and hils diary, which
was minutely kept, shows that he was travelling constantly,
visiting many lodges and towns. The last entry in the Diary
is for Februery 24~-25-26, 1862. It reads: "Lecturing. Heard
the news of the fall of Fort Donelson and closed my lecturing

to go to war"® 18

13 Stribling, Cornelius K. Diar 1860-1862 Original in
possession of bavia B. Striblfng ‘&"E;%i.e Nest, Hzll. 1 s dlary
was printed in Texas Freemason, San Antonlo, in early 1800s,




CHAPTER V
RECONSTRUCTION

With the end of the Civil War came Reconstruction. In
Refuglo county the administration of public saffairs passed
into the hsnds of the militaery and the few Unionist citizens
of the county. Colonel L. B, Camp emerged from retirement
a3 one of the powerful politicel figures of the section, He
became a member of the inner circle at Austin and was elected
to represent the Refugio district in the Legislature. George
Se Sherman replaced Lyman Ward as postmaster and was also ap~
pointed commissioner from the St, Mary's precinct (1866},
Tomas Welder and other St, Mary's Unionists were praminent

in public affaira.l

1 Huson, Hobart, Directory of Officlals of Refugio County
Pp. 18=26,

There were not enough Union men in the county to hold all
the public offices., Several offices were held by various mem~
bers of the Upton famlly. Young Lyman B, Russell, of St. Mary's,
a Democrat, was appointed hide inspector, but declined the of~

fice because he would not serve with "carpet-baggers".z

2 Minutes, Commigsioners'! Court, Refugio County, Vol, 1,
June 7, 1869,
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At the election of October 12, 1866, less than thirty
voted in the St. Mary's precinct, the electorate having been
sadly reduced by the Reconstruction laws, which disenfran-
chised most of the southern white men,

Those who were permitted to vote for Joseph F, Smith,
A, J, Martin, J. H. Wood, J. G. Maton, D, Talmon, S. P.
Walker, H, Wadsworth, C. E. Dugat, R. L. Byrne, J. Martin,

H. C. Ives, F, M. Ellis, M, Thomas, A, A. Dunn, H. Martin,
Ce Fo Balley, J. I. Cottingham, H., Clark, A. J. McCarty,

A. Bailey, J. M. Martin, W, H. Long, M. W. C, Frazier, H.
Ce Tully, Willlams Runnels, James Jones and William Allen,

Those voted for county officers were J, F. Smith, A, J.
Martin, J. H. Wood, J. G. Maton, D. Talmon, H. Wadsworth,

Ce Dugat, R. L. Byrne, J. Martin, H. C, Ives, G. S, Sherman,
Richard Dumphy, F. M. Ellis, M. Thomas, A. A, Dunn, H, Martin,
L. Be Camp, C, F, Balley, J. I. Cottingham, H, Clark, A, J.
McCarty, A, Balley, J. M, Martin, E, Peets, W, H. Long, He Ce
Tully, F. A. Bailey, Thomas Webb and James Neel,®

3 Original Poll lList of Election held in St, Mary's Pre-
cinct, at Election held October 12, 1866, in Office of County
Clerk, Refugio County

Lyman B, Russell relstes, "In 1868, the ususl presidentisl
election took place, but Texas had no vote, But the people of
St. Mary's held ¢n election anyway, and elected Seymour and
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Blair, the Democratlic nominees, I was not there but arrived
December first, afterwards, and heard it spoken of with a
great deal of amusement., I don't know who was the ringleader
in the movement., % # # Of course, it was simply horseplay,

to show their colors."¢

4 Russell, Lyman Brightman, Hecollections, MSS

The Reconstruction period was not only political but per-
sonal in 1ts effect upon the lives and fortunes of many hither-
to substantial Southern families. In order to reconstruct
their private fortunes, meny families uprooted themselves from
0ld home states and settled 1In new localities. Many of these
fine old famillies moved to St, Mary's. Some few St., Mary's
families moved elsewherse,

Among the latter was the Hobby family, which for a decade
had occupled a prominent position in Refuglio County. Colonel
A, M. Hobby had remained a bachelor until the latter part of
the war, After the capture of Galveston by the Confederates,
in which he had a brillient part, Colonel Hobby was stationed
on the island. There he met, wooed and won, the attractive
widow Menard, of the noted Texas family. After the war Colonel
Hobby returned to St. Mary's and remsined long enough to dis=-
pose of his holdings; then moved with his wife to other parts,
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The store of Post & Hobby was sold to F. M., Ellis and Richard
H. Wood, who in 1867 formed the firm of Ellis & Wood. Edwin

E., Hobby and his mother moved to Polk County where the captain
began the practice of law, He becamé & noted lsnd lswyer and
wrote "Hobby's Texas Land law". He subsequently became judge
of the Court of Appeals. He was the father of Governor William
P. Hobby.®

$ Daniell, L, E. Persomnnel of the Texas State Government,
etc., Maverick Printing Co., San Antonio, 1892, p. 9o (Biography
of E, E, Hobby)
Speer, Ocle, Texas Jurists (portrait of E. E, Hobby)
Articles of Partnershi Between F. M. Ellis and Richard
H. Wood, January 21, 1867. Originsl owned by R. H. Wood, Esq.
Refugio.

Joseph F, Smith and Youngs Coleman returned from the war
as "unreconstructed rebels"., NReither would take the "iron-clad
oath", Just how Smith was permlitted to vote in the 1866 elec~
tion i1s not clear, The Jjudges, knowing his belligerant charac~
ter probably pursued the line of least reslistance., So embite~
tered were these two men that they decided to expatriate
themselves to Mexico. This they did. Smith returned to St.
Mary's on several occasions, once being in 1870 when he made

bis will. Coleman never did return. Both dled in Mexico.6

6 VWharton, Clarence, Texas Under Many Flags, The Amerl-
can Hist. Soc., Chicago and New York, 1940, Vole 4, g
Huson, Hobart, Saint Mary's of Aransas, Refuglo Timely
Remarks, March=April, 1937.
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Although General Willismson had spent considerable of
his time at St, Mary's before the war, his family had never
lived there, A son, Dr. T. T. Williemson, had practiced
there shartly before the war began, but had almost immediately
left to Join the army. Tirzaeh Ann Williemson, wife of the
General, was of a distinguished Mississippl family, her bro-
ther, Williem McWillie, having been governor of that state,
Five sons and two daughters of this couple lived at St. Mary's.
Another son, George McWillle Williamson, remained in Louisisans,
and in 1867 was elected United States Senator for that state,
but was not permitted to take his seat in Congress. General
and Mrs, Willlamson bullt a cottage on the beach at the east
end of tom, and there both dled. General Williamson was one

of the promoters of the city of Shreveport, Louisiena,’

7 The Shreveport Times, (La.) Centennial Edition, Junse
28, 1935, First Section, p. 2, fa account and photograph of
General Willlamson. Numerous mentions of him throughout the
edition,

Russell, Lymsn Brightman, Recollections, MSS
Huson, Hobart, Saint Mary's of Aransas, Refuglo Timely
Remarks, Refuglo, Merch - Iprf§, 1537

Dr., Rufus A, Nott also brought his family back te St.
Maryts. Included was his new son-in~law, Willle Annexus
Williamson, a son of the noted Texas judge, Robert M, William=-
son, better lmown as "Three-Legged-Willie", Young Williamaon
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was &8 pharmacist and became a paritner with his father-in-law
in the drug business at St, Mary's, and later at Rockport,
James Williamson, another son of "Three-Legged-Willie" also

moved to St. Mary's,®

8 Huson, Hobart, St, Mary's of Aransas, Refuglo Timely
Remarks, Refuglo, July-Ingua%, 195
Russell, Lyman Brightmen, Recollections, MSS

Letter from James Williamson lﬁ;co, Texas )
to Hobart Huson, dated May 17, 1937.

Dr. Thomas H, Nott, son of Dr., R. A,, married Julla
Robertson, a daughter of General Jerome B. Robertson, C.S.A,,
son of Sterling C. Robertson, empresarioc., Thomas H., Nott
spent part of his boyhood st St. Maryt'!s, but was away at med-
ical school or in the srmy most of the time his parents lived
at that place,

George Vineyard, who had been s lieutenant, returned and
opened a small grocery stare, A fewmonths later Major James
Wylie Ratchford, who had served wlth that rank on the staffs
of Generals D. H, Hill, John B, Hood, and Stephen D. lLee,
(which meant thaet he had seen plenty of action) landed at St,
Mary's. He immedistely formed a partnership with Vineyard.

A few years later Vineyard withdrew and George Howard, snother
veteran, became a partner under the name of Ratchford & Howard.

This firm operated ane of the two largest general mercantile
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stores in St, Mary's, which continmued untll about 1875, when
Major Ratchford moved to Victorla County. In 1880, Howard be-
came county clerk of Refuglo County.

Gearge Roblnson Ratchfard, bachelor uncle to Major Ratch=
ford, arrived at St, Mary'!s shortly after his nephew, and opened
a8 dry goods store, The elder Ratchford had been an officer in

the Confederate army and was known as "Colonel® Ratchfard.?

9 Rusaell, Lyman Brightman, Recollections MSS
Huson, Hobart, Saint Mary's of Arausas, MSS
Burmeister, Sallle J., Reminiscences, MNSS

Shortly after the close of the war, Emile A, Perrenot,
who although in his tteens, had seen four years service in
the Confederate army, came to St, Mary's and opened & private
school., Other members of his famlly settled at Rockport.
The school was abandoned in favoar of the newspaper business,
Emile worked on the "Vaquero" at St., Mary's and the "Trans-
cript® at Rockport. He caeme back to St. Mary's and engaged in
the mercantile business & short while, In 1870 he moved back
to Rockport and became a member of the mercantile firm of Bay-
lor, Perrenot & Baylor. He married Martha Ellen Doughty, deugh=-
ter of James M. Doughty. In the 1880s, he represented the

Rockport district in the legislature,:®

(b1 10 ﬁpﬁniell, L. E., Types of Successful Men in Texas
ograpiny
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Russell, Lyman Brightman, Recollections, MSS
Huson, Hobart, Saint Mary's of Aransas, MSS

Captain Exum [uter, who had been Confederate Collectar of
Revenue at Goliad during the war, and had figured in the noted
"Confiscation Cases" decided by the "Semi-Colon Court®™, moved
to St. Mary's about 1869, and died there a few years later,
The captain was a prominent men of his time, having been dis-
trict clerk of Refuglo County, and was connected with the most
influential families of the section, among which being the
Atlees, Colemans snd McCampbells, ILyman B, Russell relates
that he was one of the young men who took turns sbout in
fisitting up®™ with Captain Luter during his last 1llness, snd
wes with him when he aled,ll

1l. Exum ILuter v, ¥Wm. L. Bunter, "The Sequestration Caases®,
30 Texas, 688.
Russell, Lyman Brightman, Recollections, MSS

The Ezell family came to St, Mery's in 1866, Samuel D,
Ezell was a brick contractor, and furnished the brick for the
first courthouse of Grayson County. He and his oldest sons
served 1n the Confederate army, Sam going back to his native
state of Kentucky to join up. Among the battles he fought in
was Shiloch, Samuel D, and his son, Robert A, were brick mskers

and layers at St. Mary's for about seven years. In 1873 they
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removed to Refuglo where both served on Town Council. From
that point they opearated a 1line of carts and wagons, hauling
from St, Mary'!s to the 1nterior.12

12 Russell, Lyman Brightman, Recocllections, MSS
Buson, Hobart, Saint Mary's of Aransas, MSS
Huson, Hobart, Directory of Officisls of Refuglo
County, ppe 31, 39, 112, II¥

Isaac Newton Mitchell, a noted lawyer of his dey, came to
St. Mary's with his widowed daughter, Mary E., Kay, who acquired
& home in the town, Mitchell 1intended to practice law at St,
Maryts, but does not appear to have opened an office, lirs.
Kay, who was the mother of John W, Kay, prominent cattleman,
lived in St, Mary's for several years,

The Reverend William Baxter was a landmark at St,
Mary's for many years. According to Mrs. Burmeister, he mar-~
ried more couples than any other officient in the town. He
was sn Englishmen and had been educated for the Anglican
priesthood, but became dissatisfied and after golng into two
other denominations, became a minister of the Dixiples of
Christ, and "stuck " as Lyman Russell pithily expresses it,.
Baxter was a fighting parson., He came to Texas in 1828, and
fought in the Texian srmy during the Revolution, His wife
was Eleanor Yeamens, whose brothers were noted Texisn soldiers,

two of them having been maessacred with Fennin's men, He re=-
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mained at St., Mary's until her decline, and moved to Bee County
where he dled, aged 92, His wife lived to about 100 years 0ld.13

13 Russell, Lyman Brightman, Recollections, MSS
Burmeister, Sallie J., Reminiscences, MSS

In 1868, Dr. H. J. (Junius) Nott landed at St., Mary's,
having bought the drug atore established by his cousin, DIr.
Rufus. He remained at St, Mary'!s until after the decline, whan
he moved to Beeville, where he died. From all sccounts, this
0ld bachelor was one of the most ss&intly men ever to have lived
in South Texas. His chsrities and good works were legion, and
he 1is still remembered with affection by the old~timers, Ir.
Junius had the finest library in St. Mary's and contributed
many earticles to the medical journals, He was also an expert
chess player and for many years edited the "chess column" of

a leading New Orleans navapaper.l4

14 Russell, Lyman Brightmen, Recollections, MSS
Huson, Hobart, Saint Mery's of Arasnsas, Refugio Timely
Remarks, July-August, 1937.

Geraldo Alonzo Beeman, with his bride of & few months,
and her family, the Rupes, arrived at St. Mary's, in 1866,
Beeman was 16 years old when the Civil War began, but he joined
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the Confederate army and served the four years, seeing bloody
fighting in the Louisiana campelgn with the First Texas Caval~
ry, in which George Vineyard hsd also served., Beeman and Cap-
tain Charles F. Bailey, 1n 1867, founded the "Vaquero®, the
first newspaper ever published in Refugio County., In 1873,
the Beeman family moved to Comanche, Texas, where, among

other enterprises, Beeman founded the "Comanche Chief%, a

leading newspaper of that county.15

15 Beeman, Geraldo Alonzo, Fireside Talks With the Chil-
dren, (en autoblography), MsSS, lent by members of the Beeman
family

®
Russell, Lyman Brightman, Grenddadt's Autobiograg%z,
The Comanche Publishing Co., Comanche, lexsas, s DPPe 16,
et seq.

Russell, Lyman BErightman, Royal Iine of the Beeman-
Famlily from Willism The Conquercr, privately printed

-
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Colonel John Howard Allen and family came to St, Mary's
in 1866 or 1867, In 1867 Colonel Allen founded the Western
Texas Institute, & co=-educational institution which flourished
fa several years, and attracted scholars from all parts of
South Texas. Among them was the lste W. W. (Bill) Jones,
ranchman and capitalist of Corpus Christi, Colcnel Allen
was a greduate of West Polnt, and is sald to hgve been a
classmate of Robert E, Lee and Jefferson Davis., He graduasted
in 1833, He served in the army until 1836, and after being
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construction engineer for the New York & Erie Rallroad for
two years, embarked upon & long and dlatinguished career as
an educatar, He was Collector of the Port of Oxford, Mary-
land, 1849-1853., The institute at St, Mary's seems to have
had a hectic existence, According to Mrs. Burmelster, Colonel
Allen was associated with Mrs. Caese in her select boarding
school for young ladles at Victoria, Texas, for several yeurs,
and also taught the public achool at St, Mary's.

The daughter of Colonel Allen, Anna Elizabeth, married

Jeremish 0. Driscoll, of Ste. Mary's.1®

16 Russell, Ianmen Brightman, Recollections, MSS
Burmeister, Sallie J., RemIniscences, ESS
Texas Almanac, 1867-1868, Refuglo County, written by
Judge Patrick Shelly.

Vharton, Clarence, Texas Under %§¥1 Flags, American
Hist, Soc., Chicago and New York, s VOl. 3, pe 129,
(Biography of Frank B. Rooke).




CHAPTER VI
THE RUSSELLS, TYPICAL PIONEER FAMILY

The Russell family was not the most important femily which
lived at St. Mary's, and 1s not singled out for such a reason,
but rather because through it, the history of the old town has
been preserved. Lyman Brightmen Russell, his sister, Sallie J.
Burmeister, and brother-in-law, Geraldo Alonzo Beeman, as well
as their kinsmen, the Brightman "boys", have by their longevity,
appreciation of facts and marvelously clear memories, made it
possible for the past to live agalin, and for the reader to get
a glimpse of ths human interest which is too oft obscured by
cold historical facts, The Russells are & representative
family of the section in which they lived,

Charles Arden Russell, head of the family, was borm of
American parents in Weterloo, Ontario, Ceanada, March 31, 1822,
The family removed to New York state, where Charles was resred.
In 1842 he enlisted in the United States army, and in August,
1845, came to Texas with General Taylor'!s army. He was honor=-
ably diecharqu at Corpus Christi, on January 2, 1846,

The young man had decided to return to New York, golng by
land to Galveston, thence to his destination by hoat. En route
he came to the old town of Goliad, and as chance would have 1t,
the ferryman, George Claver Brightman, taking s 1liking to the
young soldier, invited him to his home, where he was hospitably



entertained. The ferryman had been a soldier himself and was
a veteran of the War of 1812, and since his migration to Texas
in 1843 had been in msny border fights.

The ferryman had & daughter named Emmelins, It was a
cas2 of love at first sisht and the young soldier decided then
and there to remain at Golisd, On February 25, 1847, the
young couple were married at Goliad., The same year Russell
became a candidste for the legislature from the Goliad-Refuglo
district. He was not elected to that office, but was elected
instead to that of assessor-collector of Goliad County. He
served in that capecity until 1848, when he was appointed post-
magter of Goliad, In 1850 he moved to Lamar, but stayed there
only & short time., He went back to Gollad and set himself up
88 & land surveyor,

Russell surveyed and platted the town of Helena, which two
years later, in 1854, became the county seat of the newly created
county of Karnes. The Russell family moved to the new county-
seat and he was the first notary to be appointed in the county.
He was admitted to the bar in 1855, aml held several minor of=-
fices in Karnes County.

Although a northern man by birth, Russell became ardently
southern in thought and action. He was a prominent member and
officer of the Knights of the Golden Circle, and his daughter
states that at the time of his death he had the paraphernalia

of that order in a large iron chest, securely padlocked, It
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was from his archives that the cipher of that mysterious orgsn=-
ization was discovered,

Russell was delegate from Karnes County to the Secession
Convention and signed the Ordlnance of Secession. Thereafter
he organized a company for the Confederste service and was
elected its captains In July, 1861, he drilled a battalion of
cavalry which had been raised in Karnes County. His appoint~
mant as Enrolling Officer and Provost Marshal prevented his
goling to the front with elther of hls commands,

He was defeated for the leglslature in 1861, but was
elected in 1862, He served in thls capscity to the end of
the war., During recesses of the legislature he served in the
army, in 1864 and 1865 being in Captain B, F, Flyt!'s Company
of General John S, (Rip) Ford's Expeditionary force.

In the Fall of 1868 Judge Russell decided to move his fame
ily to St. Mary's. <The reasons and circumstances are related
by Lymen B. Russell in his "Granddad's Autobiography", pages
13 to 15, as follows:

Things were getting pretty squally in Kernes County
by that time. John Wesley Hardln and the Taylor con-
nexion had begun to make a reputation for lawlessness,
end Capt. John ILittleton, who was sheriff of the county,
decided that vigorous measures must be taken to control
the situstion, He and my father were strong friends,
and Capt., Littlston's boys and I had grown up together,

On the other hand, I had begun to take in the dances all

over the county a3 a fiddler, and the two Taylor boys who
were about grown at that time, especlally Doughboy, the
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elder, and I become intimate as fiddlers and dancers, We
were at that time under military rule, as it was in the
dnystg? reconatguction after fﬁflcigil uar.hiFather, who
saw the danger brewling, espec or me s only son
had made arrangements 5ur1£§ the Zummer t6 move awgy from
the county to get me out of the evil assoclations, As
I have already sald once, I was unconscious of all this
at the time, In November, father had already made arrange-
ments with the late Lyman Brightman, my mother's brother,
to come up with wagons and teams and move the household
ﬁoods to o0ld St. Mari'a on the Bay in Refuglo countz and
ad secured a house there. Just a few days before ﬁey
came, Capt. Littleton proposed to my father to let me go
on horseback to San Antonio, where the military headquar-
ters and seat of %overnment for the time was kept, and get
warrants of arrest for the whols Taylor crowd. It wes
represented that I would not be under suspicion, and with
my knowledge of the country, I could go one road and come
back another, and that there would be virtually no danger
in the trip whatever, It seemed plausible, end owlng to
to the friendship between them, father consented, But when
he went home in the evenling and told my mother what he
nad done, sie put her foot down on it at once, saying
"You are maeking arrangements to get that boy killed, and
I'11 never zgive my consent to it." 1 do not know any
other occasion during their family life when there was
such an impasse between them, and I didn't know of this
until afterwards.

It was true thaet Uncle Lyman Brightman was expected
any day with the wagons and ox teams to move the household
stuff, Mother suggested that there was the best excuse in
the world to get out of the promise, for as the family did
not expect to go with the wagons, and father had consider-
able business to wind up before going, it was actusll
necessary for somebody to go with the wagzons, look after
the things and see that they were unloaded properli. So,
the next day, father explained the condition to Littleton,
and the necessl of sending ms with the things, The wag-
ons arrived about the 18th of November, loaded up on the
19th, and we pulled out on the 20th, I on horseback, There
were three wagons and teams, one driven by Uncle ILyman him-
self, one by Uncle Tom Howard, his father-in-law, and the
third by an old bow-legged negro named Joe.

It was 36 miles from Helena to Goliad, and the first
day they wot a late start and only got about six miles
from Helensn, camping on the east side of Ecleto Creek,

The next day, Friday, we camped about 12 miles further on,
between what 18 now Chearco and the 0Jo de Agua., The third
dai, Saturday, we made 1t below the (Cabeza, about nine
miles from Goiiad, but just about the time we struck camp
and hobbled out the oxen, 1t began to railn; and it
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rained heavily the whole livelong night, We had never a
waegonsheet, and slickers came into vogue msny years af-
terward., The only protection we had was & blue army over~
coat a-plece, and these were saturated in fifteen minutes
and welghed about fifty pounds. We had camped in an ozk
grove of seversl acres, and there was lots of deadwood,

We gatbered together a lot of logs, bullt a huge fire,
with enough of logs on hand to keep it going all night.
the raln was cold, but Uncle Lyman ani I sat by the log-
heap 81l night. Uncle Tom Howard made him a pallet under
one of the wagons, and although he dldn't keep dry by a
long shot, he at least got out of the falling rsin, 01d
Joe made his pallet, negro-like by the fire, and picked ou
& sinkhole for it. Within & hour he was sleeping in water
sbout three inches deep, but he snored all night, once in
a while turning over and splashing the water like a porpus
after a mullet, I was young and full of blood, and was
used to being up all night frequently desnces anyway, and =
I never went to sleep at all, Uncle Lyman dld sleep some,
I know, for he sat on a cook pot most of the night, with
three legs to it, and once in the small hows of the morn-
ing, he went so sound asleep that he nodded and fell over,
turning the pot over with him, 1That was fun for me, ard
kept me awake and fresh the remeinder of the night with

laughing,

Well, 1t's a long lene that has no turn, and finally
day broke, and with daylight the raln slacked upe. It was
about six miles further down to the old ¥Williem L, Hunter
Ranch, three miles from Goliad, and 1t was agreed that we
should hitch up and drive down to that ranch and stop for
the rest of the day to dry out and get a little sleep. We
got down there 1n less than three hours drive baefore we
turned our attention breskfast, The ranch house was vacant,
wide open, with a good fireplace, the air was pretty chilly
and we still more so from belng soaked, and we stopped,
took out the oxen for the day. Meantime, someone suggested
that we needed something stimulating, and as we had none,
and Goliad was only three miles off, I mounted my horse,
rode to town, and although it was Sunday morning, I had
no trouble whatever in getting a bottle of good whisky.

I was back in about an hour, and meantime the others had
got up a good square meal of old ned and biscults, and the
whisky Just had time to give us all a splendid appetite..
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We stald that day and the next morning hitched up and
drove down to Goliad but the roads were soaked, and we
didntt get to the San Antonio River until about ncon or
after., The River was about as high as it ever gets,

but at the ferry, kept by old Tom Tally, the banks were
high enough to prevent its running out into the valleys
as it was almost everywhere else, His flat was only big
enough to take one wagon and one yoke of oxen at a time,
or two yoke of oxen, and by the time we got the wagons
and oxen across it was late in the afternoon. We hed,
however, time to reach the edge of the prairle out be~
yond 01d LaBehia before dark and camped there,

There were many funny things occured on this trip,
end I never enjoyed a trip any better, despite the rain,
the mud and the water. They had an 0ld decrepit pony
along to round up the oxen in the morning, and we called
him Rosinante, he so strikingly resembled Don Quixote's
steed, and one morning Uncle Tom Howard was sent out on
the pony to round up the teams. He was one of the most
awkward men I have ever known. He ware canvas trousers,
as strongly made a leather, and this fact saved him one
morning perhaps, from more serious injury. He was round-
ing up the steers, and about a hundred yards from the
camp Rosinante stunbled, and fell to his knees; the o¢ld
man went over his head, but his trousers caught on the pom-
mel of the saddle by the walstband, and the 0ld pony was
too weak to rlse to his feet and strong enough to hold him-
self in position, and there Uncle Tam hung, with his head
down and his feet up in the air, unable to extricate him-
seld until old Joe ran out to him and helped to turn him
upright again, Uncle Tom was a jolly old man, however,
always joking and seldom talkling seriously and he lasughed
it off along with the rest of us.

The roads were 80 sogcy that we bogged down time ard
again, and it was on one of these occasions that I heard
my Uncle Lyman utter the only resemblance to profanity that
I ever heard him use, The nsear lead steer of his team,
which was always in front was named Davie, There was &
place just ahead in the road thet he knew would stick the
wagon by its looks; he drove out of the road hoping to
avold miring down; but Just as he got the wagon entirely
clear of the beaten road it struck a black place, the
wheels began to sink, and he tried to seesaw the wagon to
keep it from miring. Vith his long old ox-whip and stock,
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he touched Davie, saying in a low tone as he always did

in his speaking, "whos, come here Daviel" Some how

Davie dildn't swing to the left qulck enough te stop the
sinking of the wheel, &nd as Uncle Lyman saw it, he
cracked the wrip sgain, sand repeated the command, and then,
seeing the wheel sinking hopelesslg he popped the o0ld whip
with all his might, and shouted: D=n your infernal soul,
Whoa, come here, Daviel" But the maneuver was too slow

to work, and we had to dig a couple of hours to get out

of the mud.

We arrived at old St. Mary's on the last day of o=
vember, a distance of not more than 80 miles by the roead,
end when I unloaded the stuff, 1t was soaked and much of
the dry goods (what s misnomerl!) was wet through and
through and mildewed, and the furniture was &ll rulned,

I am sure that the gerneral damage incurred from getting
ceught in that rain could not have been less than §500,
and that was & blg pile of money in those dayse I did
the best I could to spread it out and get it dry, and
worked with it nearly three weeks before the family ar-
rived although they started December 1, It continued

to raln moat of the time and 